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The innovators. 

Avigilon is defining the future of 
protection through innovative high-
definition surveillance solutions. 

As the innovation leaders in our  
field, we design and manufacture  
the world’s best high-definition  
surveillance systems. This includes 
megapixel cameras, recording  
hardware and software that can be  
sold together or separately.  

As a complete end-to-end system, 
Avigilon delivers protection and 
superior image quality that is 
unmatched by any other competitor. 

With our innovative surveillance 
technology, our customers are 
protecting their assets, improving  
safety and response times, and 
reducing their costs—from personnel 
requirements to false liability claims.

Who we are
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A letter to the shareholders of Avigilon Corporation
Fellow Shareholders,

Fiscal 2011 was a year of great success for Avigilon. We grew annual revenue  
by 86 percent to $60.0 million. We introduced important innovations to our 
product offering, and grew our team to expand our reach around the world. And 
we became a publicly listed company, raising over $20 million in an initial public 
offering (IPO) to fund our continued growth.

We achieved strong revenue growth while increasing our profitability. Gross 
margin increased from 45 percent of revenue to 46 percent.  EBITDA increased 
132 percent to $6.6 million. Net income of $3.8 million was up significantly from 
$1.0 million in 2010.

Less than five years after we launched our first solution, Avigilon systems are now 
being sold in over 80 countries around the world. We have more than 210,000 
camera and software licenses installed at over 12,000 customer sites. And our 
distribution channel includes over 1,000 active Avigilon Certified Resellers who 
sell our products into their local markets.

Success factors

Avigilon’s recent success has been the result of three key factors:

•  Driving innovation. Our video surveillance systems deliver the world’s best 
image quality, and we are committed to building on our lead. We continue 
to invest in innovation that improves the performance of video surveillance, 
produces return on investment for our customers, and makes for an intuitive  
and easy experience, for both installers and customers, resulting in our rapid 
customer adoption.

•  Increasing brand awareness. Our reputation for industry-leading video surveillance 
technology, combined with our growing market share, helps us make new 
inroads with prospective customers. We made significant investments in building 
awareness of the Avigilon brand in 2011, particularly in the second half of the year.

•  Expansion of our global sales team. Last year we established a sales presence in 
new territories in Eastern Europe, Latin America, the Middle East and Africa. We 
also strengthened our sales team throughout our existing regions.  

Opportunity

Avigilon is in the early stages of executing on a tremendous long-term opportunity. 
Worldwide spending on video surveillance equipment and software was estimated 
to be US$16 billion for 2011. Research analysts expect the market to reach US$29 
billion within the next four years.

There are some important characteristics to note about this market. First, the high-
definition digital segment – where Avigilon is a technology leader – is expected to 
grow strongly and overtake legacy analog equipment, which currently comprises 
the majority of the industry’s sales. Second, the market is very fragmented; no 
single player has a market share greater than five percent. Third, the end users 
span all sectors of the economy, from airports and hospitals, to office and retail, 
to stadiums and casinos. We have had success in all of these verticals and more. 
Diversity of demand helps insulate us from economic fluctuations that may affect 
a particular sector.
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Our vision is to become the world’s largest supplier of video surveillance 
systems. Having developed the world’s first fully IP-based, end-to-end video 
surveillance system designed specifically for high-definition. We are well 
positioned to gain significant market share as the technology leader.

Strategy

Our main objective in going public was to raise the funds required to accelerate 
the growth of our business. With that funding now in place, our top priority is to 
execute our growth strategy. Investors should take comfort in the fact that we 
are executing on the same proven approach that resulted in our rapid growth 
and profitability.  

•  We will expand our sales team to strengthen our foothold in new international 
markets, including Asia, Eastern Europe and Latin America. Within our existing 
regions, we will add sales people to help increase our coverage. And we have 
brought on experienced industry experts to help us grow vertical markets, such 
as casinos and national accounts.

•  We will continue to invest in marketing and brand awareness through industry 
and business media. We also expect to participate in more than 70 trade shows 
around the world, covering a wide range of vertical markets. These activities 
generate an increased stream of new business leads for us.

•  We will accelerate product innovation and plan to double our research and 
development team in 2012 to further advance our product roadmap. Innovation 
has been a driving force for Avigilon since our inception. By delivering a 
superior product at a competitive price, we have been able to provide real 
value and quantifiable return on investment for our customers.

I am very excited about our Company’s prospects. We have proven ourselves 
to date, growing from zero to $60 million of revenue during some challenging 
economic times. The major risks associated with a start-up and launching a 
new product line are now behind us. We have a proven product, an established 
distribution network, and an expanding list of high profile reference customers. 
We are very well positioned in a large and rapidly growing market. Our progress 
will be driven by our team’s ability to continue to execute the strategies we have 
deployed with great success thus far.

I look forward to the ongoing support of our shareholders, employees and 
partners. Together we will continue to innovate the way the world protects its 
assets and its people.

Alexander Fernandes
PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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It’s what we do.  

At Avigilon, we pride ourselves on 
making the most innovative high-
definition surveillance systems in the 
world. We’ve achieved this by making  
it our primary focus. Everything from our 
approach to research and development, 
to product design, to manufacturing, 
to marketing and sales, aims to be as 
innovative as the products themselves. 

In 2011 we brought several of the year’s 
state-of-the-art advancements in the 
video surveillance industry to market. 

We introduced: 

• The highest resolution, high-definition 
surveillance camera (29 MP), which can 
replace up to 95 analog cameras. 

• The award-winning H.264 Analog 
Video Encoder, which delivers the most 
cost-effective upgrade path to HD 
surveillance.

• The award-winning Avigilon Control 
Center Mobile, which allows security 
professionals remote access to HD 
surveillance video via Apple and 
Android devices. 

Innovation is the core of everything  
we do. And why we believe that we are 
well positioned to continue our success 
and growth. 

Innovation

Just one Avigilon 29 MP camera can replace the 
need for up to 95 analog cameras.
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ACC Mobile

Our award-winning app for Apple and Android devices 
is designed to efficiently support high-definition video, 
search and playback in detail of up to 29 MP over 
3G/4G and Wifi. 

Made in Canada

All of our products are designed and manufactured 
in our state-of-the-art facility in Canada—allowing 
us to deliver some of the most well-built and 
reliable products in our industry. 

High-Definition Stream Management™ (HDSM™)

Managing HD video can be taxing on servers and 
processors—that’s not the case with HDSM™. Our 
technology preserves the HD clarity through visual 
loss-less compression while efficiently managing 
bandwidth and storage.
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Exponential. And exceptional.  

Avigilon reported impressive growth 
throughout the year and was the top 
ranked software company in North 
America by Deloitte’s 2011 Technology 
Fast500™. 

Building on our momentum and track 
record of success, annual revenue for 
2011 was $60 million, up 86 per cent 
from 2010. With sales of $18.8 million in 
the fourth quarter we ended the year 
with the highest quarterly revenue in our 
company’s history. Also, EBITDA rose 
236% percent to $6.6 million compared 
to the prior year. 

In 2011, we established a sales presence 
in new territories such as Eastern Europe, 
Latin America, Middle East and Africa and 
strengthened our sales team throughout 
our existing regions. As a result our sales 
are spread internationally and no one 
customer represents more than 5 percent 
of our business. With Avigilon systems 
now installed in over 12,000 customer 
sites in more than 80 countries, we have 
no intention of slowing down. 

Our solid financial performance and 
ability to sustain healthy growth is a 
testament to our innovative and industry-
leading technology.  

Performance

Annual revenue growth
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2010

Quarterly revenue by geographical region, 2010 - 2011.
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Looking ahead in high-definition.  

Avigilon has a tremendous opportunity 
ahead. Worldwide spending on video 
surveillance in 2011 was estimated to be 
$16 billion a year, and by 2015 analysts 
estimate it will grow to $29 billion*.

With innovative technology, rapid 
customer adoption, and no single 
dominant player in the market, Avigilon 
is perfectly positioned to become the 
global market leader. 

Adding to that, the majority of industry 
sales are still based on legacy analog 
equipment. Within three years, it is 
expected that 80 per cent of systems 
sold will be digital. We are the 
technology leader in high-definition 
video surveillance with the broadest 
range of megapixel cameras, and thanks 
to our proprietary HDSM™ technology, 

the highest image quality. We’re poised 
for global market leadership. 

We went public last Fall to raise the 
funds required to capitalize on the 
opportunity ahead. Our current priority 
is to maximize growth so we can rapidly 
increase our market share. Our growth 
plan is simple and based on a track 
record of success: invest in a global 
sales force, boost our marketing and 
increase R&D funding to increase the 
momentum of our product innovation, 
brand awareness and expanded sales 
efforts. With our innovative products 
and solid growth plan we’re targeting 
revenues of $500 million in five years.

The Future

*Source: ABI Research: The Video Surveillance Market , July 2010
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By 2015, analysts estimate worldwide spending 
on surveillance will grow to $29 billion.

The world market overall video sureillance revenue,  
forecast: 2008 to 2015
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis  
The following management’s discussion and analysis of the financial condition and 
results of operations of Avigilon has information and discussion as of and for the years 
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. All audited financial information presented in this 
management’s discussion and analysis for the periods up to and including the year 
ended December 31, 2009 was prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. All financial 
information presented herein for the financial year beginning January 1, 2010 was prepared 
in accordance with IFRS. This discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements 
that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including statements regarding 
developments in Avigilon’s operations in future periods, adequacy of financial resources 
and future plans and objectives of Avigilon. Actual results could differ materially from those 
discussed in these forward-looking statements due to a number of factors, There can be no 
assurance that such information will prove to be accurate, and readers are cautioned not to 
place undue reliance on this forward-looking information. Please refer to “Adoption of New 
Accounting Standards” below for further discussion.

This MD&A has been prepared as of February 29, 2012. All amounts are expressed in 
Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated.

Caution regarding forward-looking information
This report includes forward-looking statements about our activities, events and 
developments that we expect to or anticipate may occur in the future including, for 
example, statements about our business outlook, assessment of market conditions, 
strategies, future plans and future sales. Forward-looking statements normally contain 
words like believe, expect, anticipate, plan, intend, continue, estimate, may, will, should 
and similar expressions. Such statements are not guarantees of future performance. 
They are based on management’s expectations and assumptions regarding historical 
trends, current conditions and expected future developments, as well as other factors 
that we believe are appropriate in the circumstances. 

We have based these statements on estimates and assumptions that we believed were 
reasonable when the statements were prepared. Our actual results could be substantially 
different because of the risks and uncertainties associated with our business. Important 
risks that could cause such differences include, but are not limited to, the length of sales 
cycles, rapid technological advancement, competition, availability of critical inputs, 
foreign exchange rate occurrences and doing business in foreign countries. Additionally, 
differences could arise because of events that are announced or completed after the 
date of this report, including mergers, acquisitions, other business combinations and 
divestitures. You will find more information about the risks and uncertainties affecting our 
business in the “Risk Factors” section of our Prospectus dated October 28, 2011, which is 
available on SEDAR (www.sedar.com).

We do not update or revise forward-looking information even if new information becomes 
available unless legislation requires us to do so. You should not place undue reliance on 
forward-looking statements.

Overview
Avigilon is a leader in the design, manufacturing and marketing of high-definition, network-
based video surveillance systems and equipment for the global security market. The 
Avigilon System has been designed to provide high quality video capture, transmission, 
recording and playback. The components of the Avigilon System include cameras, 
recording hardware and software, which may be sold separately or in combination to 
provide customers with a customizable end-to-end video surveillance solution. The features 
and capabilities of the components provide the Avigilon System with the versatility to be 
configured and deployed in many different applications in a variety of industries. Avigilon 
also sells accessories to complement its system. 

To date, Avigilon systems have been installed at over 12,000 customer sites in more than 
80 countries, including school campuses, transportation systems, healthcare centres, public 
venues, critical infrastructure, prisons, factories, casinos, airports, financial institutions, 
government facilities and retailers. 
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Selected Annual Information
The following table sets out selected consolidated financial information for the periods 
indicated. The selected financial information set out below has been derived from the 
consolidated financial statements. Each investor should read the following in conjunction 
with those statements thereto.

Consolidated Statement of Operations Year ended December 31
(audited)

($ 000’s) 2011(2) 2010(2) 2009(1)

Revenue 60,033 32,284 16,882

Costs of sales 32,394 17,713 8,676

Gross margin 27,639 14,571 8,206

Expenses 21,904 12,334 8,054

Operating income 5,735 2,237 152

Net income 3,829 964 26

 Basic income per share 0.20 0.06 0.00

 Diluted income per share 0.14 0.05 0.00

Preferred share dividend 0.05 0.06 0.06

Common share dividend  –  –  – 

       

Total assets 42,954 19,724 13,607

Total liabilities 8,102 16,740 2,576

Shareholders’ equity 34,852 2,984 11,031

Notes:

(1) Information is presented in accordance with Canadian GAAP.

(2) Information is presented in accordance with IFRS.

Overall Performance
Avigilon had a successful year in 2011. The Company profitably grew sales in all segments 
while expanding its suite of products and geographic saturation. Revenues for the year 
ended December 31, 2011 increased by 86% over the prior year to reach a record of 
$60.0 million. 

The increased revenue was due, in large part, to the expansion of the Avigilon global sales 
force. The Company added employees in Europe, Africa, Latin America, and the Middle East 
and increased its regional presence across the United States and Canada. The increase in 
revenue led to a significant rise in profit for the year. Net income grew 280% to $3.8 million 
in 2011 from $1.0 million in 2010.

The Company also brought several new products to market including its 29 megapixel 
HD Pro camera, and new versions of its award-winning Analog Video Encoder and Avigilon 
Control Center (ACC) software. 

On November 8, 2011 the Company completed its previously announced initial public 
offering (the “Offering” or “IPO”) and secondary offering of its common shares. Avigilon’s 
common shares began trading on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol AVO. 
Gross proceeds from the offering were $20,810,007. The Company intends to use the 
proceeds from the Offering to continue to expand product development, expand its sales 
and marketing in North American and internationally, and for working capital and general 
administrative purposes.
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The following is a selected summary of quarterly results for the eight most recently 
completed quarters to December 31, 2011:

  Selected Quarterly Results (unaudited)

  2011 2010

($ 000’s)  Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Revenue  18,853  15,109  16,037  10,034  10,157  8,282  8,345  5,500 

Cost of Sales  9,263  8,207  9,319  5,605  5,519  4,516  4,608  3,070 

Gross Margin  9,590  6,902  6,718  4,429  4,638  3,766  3,737  2,430 

Expenses  7,462  5,624  4,855  3,963  4,495  2,539  2,998  2,302 

Operating Income  2,128  1,278  1,863  466  143  1,227  739  128 

Net Income  1,623  1,007  1,078  121  (216)  746  348  86 
Basic income 

per share  0.07  0.06  0.06  0.01  –  0.04  0.02  – 
Diluted income 

per share  0.05  0.04  0.04  0.01  –  0.03  0.02  – 

EBITDA(1)  2,287  1,494  2,071  746  410  1,354  862  223 

                 

Total assets  42,954  24,402  27,083  21,611  19,724  17,114  15,415  13,404 

Total liabilities  8,102  19,402  23,101  18,488  16,740  14,184  13,301  12,229 
Shareholders’ 

equity  34,852  5,000  3,982  3,123  2,984  2,930  2,114  1,176 

(1) EBITDA is a non-IFRS financial measure. Please see the “EBITDA and Net Income” section for more information.

Discussion of Operations 
Revenue

Avigilon’s revenue is derived from the sale of high-definition, network-based video 
surveillance systems and equipment for the global security market. The Avigilon system 
and its components are promoted by Avigilon sales staff and sold through a global network 
of more than 1,000 security equipment integrators and dealers. The Company complements 
and supports its sales channel with sales and support staff, who work either directly 
with prospective customers or in coordination with equipment integrators and dealers to 
promote and provide products and solutions that address the needs of the end-user. 

Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $60.0 million, an increase of 86% over 
revenue earned in the year ended December 31, 2010. The increase was due to higher 
product sales volumes worldwide, as a result of new product offerings, penetration into new 
markets, and greater customer adoption in existing markets, and follows a 91% increase in 
2010 over 2009. This is consistent with management’s focus on top-line growth to establish 
the Company as a leading innovative technology provider in the market. 

During the year, Avigilon expanded its North American, EMEA and Latin American sales 
teams to meet the growing demand for the Company’s high-definition surveillance solution. 
We also added a global gaming security expert to the team to target the substantial and 
fast-growing casino surveillance market. 

In addition to growing personnel to keep up with customer demand, Avigilon expanded its 
product offerings to include: 

• The industry’s highest resolution HD surveillance camera. The 29 MP can replace up to 
95 analog cameras and integrates seamlessly with the Avigilon Control Center software. 
Avigilon now offers the broadest range of HD surveillance cameras in the industry.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
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• Two new cameras in the popular H.264 HD camera series for greater coverage, enhanced 
performance in low-light conditions and a smaller form factor.

• The award-winning H.264 Analog Video Encoder that delivers the industry’s most 
cost-effective upgrade path to HD surveillance. 

• Avigilon Control Center Core designed specifically for small and medium businesses, 
a growing HD video surveillance segment. 

• Avigilon Control Center Mobile allowing security professionals remote access to HD 
surveillance video via Apple and Android phone and tablet devices. 

The Company’s revenue is earned in six main regions: Canada, United States, United Kingdom, 
EMEA (Europe, the Middle East and Africa combined), Asia Pacific and Latin America.

Revenue by Geographic Region  Year ended

($ 000's)
 December 31, 

 2011 
 December 31, 

 2010 

Canada  4,525  3,173 

United States  30,850  16,205 

United Kingdom  5,198  2,326 

EMEA  14,120  7,574 

Asia Pacific  3,088  2,261 

Latin America  2,252  745 

Total revenues  60,033  32,284 

Strong revenue growth was experienced in all markets, with the most significant increases 
experienced in the areas where the Company actively expanded sales staff. 

Revenue has grown continuously since Avigilon first began commercial sales at the end of 
2007. Quarterly revenue over the last eight quarters is presented in the table below:

  2010 2011

($ 000’s) Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Canada 528 1,195 718 732 1,015 968 862 1,680 

United States 2,811 3,708 4,432 5,254 4,820 8,754 7,493 9,783 

United Kingdom 385 646 628 667 1,134 995 2,053 1,016 

EMEA 1,429 1,796 1,909 2,440 2,041 4,003 3,481 4,595 

Asia Pacific 261 824 534 642 700 691 642 1,055 

Latin America 86 176 61 422 323 626 578 725 

Total 5,500 8,345 8,282 10,157 10,033 16,037 15,109 18,854 

Over the last two years, quarterly revenue has grown significantly in all regions. US 
revenue has grown on average by 91% per quarter compared to the same quarters in the 
prior year, while EMEA has grown on average by 84%. The US remains Avigilon’s largest 
source of revenue, accounting for 51% in 2011 and 50% in 2010. As a percentage of total 
revenue, EMEA has remained relatively constant from 2010, growing from 23% to 24% over 
the period. In 2011 the Company continued to enter new markets in this region, including 
into parts of Eastern Europe and into the United Arab Emirates and expects to continue 
to expand its sales activities in these areas and in Latin America during 2012. 

Revenues have historically experienced some seasonality, with first and third quarters 
generally being slower than the second and fourth quarters. The slower first quarter is 
attributed to order delays as companies typically work to finalize their capital spending 
plans for the year while the slower third quarter has been due to the summer holiday 
season in Europe and to a lesser extent in the United States. Management expects that 
the seasonality impact will continue in the foreseeable future. 
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Cost of Sales

Cost of sales is primarily comprised of the cost of materials and components purchased 
from Avigilon’s suppliers, manufacturing labour and overhead costs, inventory 
obsolescence provisions and write-offs, warranty costs, product transportation costs, and 
other supply chain management costs. Depreciation of assembly equipment is included in 
cost of sales. To the extent that the Company’s sales increase, the Company expects its 
cost of sales to also increase in absolute dollars; however cost of sales as a percentage 
of sales is expected to decrease in the near term due to a variety of factors including the 
introduction of new products, cost reductions from increased buying power and decreases 
in fixed costs as a percentage of revenue. 

Cost of sales for the year ended December 31, 2011 increased by $14.7 million, or 83% 
compared to the previous year. This growth is generally in line with the growth in revenue, 
while staying relatively constant as a percentage of revenue (54% and 55%, respectively, 
for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010). 

  2010 2011

($ 000’s) Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Cost of sales 3,070 4,608 4,516 5,519 5,605 9,319 8,207 9,263 

 % of revenue 56% 55% 55% 54% 56% 58% 54% 49%

On a quarterly basis cost of sales has remained fairly constant. The increase in the second 
quarter of 2011 was driven by a single large transaction that had a higher cost of sales due 
to the product mix of the order. The lower cost of sales in the fourth quarter of 2011 was 
driven by sales of higher margin cameras and systems. Cost of goods sold in the fourth 
quarter was also impacted by the effect of year-end adjustments of $0.4 million that related 
to the full year of 2011. Applying these adjustments to the quarters to which they relate 
results in adjusted quarterly cost of sales for the year as follows:

  2011  

($ 000’s) Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total

Cost of sales 5,604 9,319 8,207 9,263 32,394 

Adjustment (73) (114) (99) 286  – 

  5,531 9,205 8,108 9,547 32,394 

 % of revenue 55% 57% 54% 51% 54%

Gross Margins

Gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $27.6 million, or 46% of revenue. 
This compares to $14.6 million or 45% of revenue in 2010. 

Gross margin percentage for the fourth quarter of 2011 was 51%, compared to 46% in the 
same period as 2010. After correcting for the timing of adjustments discussed above for 
cost of goods sold, gross margin for the fourth quarter of 2011 was 49%. The higher fourth 
quarter gross margin was largely driven by sales mix, with a larger proportion of higher 
margin products sold in the quarter.

  2011

(%) Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total

Gross margin 44% 42% 46% 51% 46%

Adjusted 45% 43% 46% 49% 46%

Management believes that the Company has opportunities for improvements in gross 
margin through the continued development and introduction of new products and through 
the continued adoption and expansion of the Avigilon brand. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
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Selling and Marketing 

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries and related expenses, 
advertising, trade shows and other promotional activities. 

Selling and marketing expenses for the year ended December 31, 2011 increased by 
$6.0 million, or 90% from the year ended December 31, 2010. 

($ 000’s) 2011 2010

Selling expenses 9,860 5,670 

Marketing expenses 2,917 1,088 

Total 12,777 6,758 

Selling expenses, which are direct costs of the Company’s sales staff, increased $4.2 million 
in 2011 over the same period last year. The increase is largely due to the increased number 
of sales staff to support the revenue increase year-over-year. Total expenses are consistent 
on a percent of revenue basis, at 16% for the year ended December 31, 2011 and 18% for the 
same period in 2010. 

Marketing expenses increased in 2011 as the Company developed a new marketing 
program designed to support its continuing revenue growth. This program was initiated in 
the second half of the year and approximately two-thirds of the total spending was incurred 
in the last four months of the year. 

  2010 2011

($ 000’s) Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Selling expenses 1,200 1,337 1,205 1,928 1,937 2,287 2,355 3,281 
Marketing 

expenses 168 324 165 431 337 505 869 1,206 

Total 1,368 1,661 1,370 2,359 2,274 2,792 3,224 4,487 

The Company’s focus in the near term is on continued sales growth and expects to increase 
its spending on selling and marketing expenses as it hires additional personnel and 
expands internationally and into specific vertical markets. In the short term, the Company 
expects these expenses to increase, as a percentage of revenue, as expenses to support 
growth are incurred in advance of the related revenue. 

Research and Development

Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and related expenses 
for software and hardware engineering and technical personnel, as well as materials and 
consumables used in product development. The Company incurs most of its research 
and development expenses in Canada and is eligible to receive Scientific Research 
and Experimental Development investment tax credits for certain eligible expenditures. 
Investment tax credits are netted against the Company’s research and development 
expenses for financial statement presentation purposes. 

Research and development expenses for the year ended December 31, 2011 increased 
by $0.6 million, or 26%, from the year ended December 31, 2011. 

($ 000’s) 2011 2010

Gross R&D Expense 4,043 3,003 

SRED Credit (977) (579)

R&D Expense 3,066 2,424 

For the year ended December 31, 2011, gross research and development expenditures 
were approximately 7% of sales, compared to 9% in the same period of 2010. On a quarterly 
basis, however, gross research and development expenses have been increasing and were 
approximately 8% during the fourth quarter of 2011.

Research and development activities are a key factor in the Company’s ability to continue 
its growth. Management expects expenses to continue to grow, as a percentage of 
revenue, to a level more in line with industry norms as the Company focuses on enhancing 
and expanding its product offerings. 
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General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist of costs relating to wages, information systems, 
legal and finance functions, professional fees, insurance and other corporate expenses. 

Administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2011 were $5.9 million, up from 
$2.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2010.

($ 000’s) 2011 2010

Administrative 5,892 2,919 

 % of revenue 10% 9%

The increase in administrative expenses was primarily due to additional personnel and their 
related expenses as a result of business growth. The Company expects its administrative 
expenses to increase to support planned growth, as well as in connection with becoming 
a reporting issuer; however, they will not continue to grow in proportion to the growth in 
revenue. Over time these expenses are expected to decrease as a percentage of revenue.

The quarterly growth in administrative expenses has been fairly even over the past two 
years as the Company has been steadily adding to the support function of the organization. 
The increase in the fourth quarter of 2011 was due in part to additional bonuses paid to staff 
and to expenses incurred from the Company’s move to its new head office including the 
lease expense for the larger premises. 

EBITDA and Net Income 

($ 000’s) 2011 2010

EBITDA  6,598  2,849 

 % of revenue 11% 9%

Net Income 3,829 964 

 % of revenue 6% 3%

The term EBITDA refers to earnings before deducting interest, taxes, depreciation, 
amortization, foreign exchange gain or loss, and stock-based compensation. Management 
believes EBITDA is a useful measure as it provides an indication of the operational results 
of the business prior to taking into consideration how those activities are financed and 
taxed and also prior to taking into consideration asset amortization. EBITDA does not 

have a standardized meaning prescribed by International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and is not necessarily comparable to similar measures provided by other companies. 
Accordingly, investors are cautioned that EBITDA should not be construed as an alternative 
to operating income or net income determined in accordance with IFRS as an indicator of 
the Company’s financial performance or as a measure of its liquidity and cash flows. 

EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2011 increased by $3.7 million, or 130%, compared 
to the year ended December 31, 2010, largely due to the increased revenue during the year. 
Below is a reconciliation of EBITDA to net income:

($ 000’s) 2011 2010

EBITDA  6,598  2,849 

Less:    

 Stock based compensation  (346)  (193)

 Foreign exchange (gain) loss  311  (157)

 Amortization  (428)  (344)

 Interest expense  (652)  (590)

Earnings before tax  5,483  1,565 

Deferred income tax expense  1,654  601 

Net income  3,829  964 

Net income for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $3.8 million compared to net income of 
$1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. Interest expense represents interest paid on the 
credit facility and on preferred shares (which are classified as a liability under IFRS). All outstanding 
preferred shares at the date of the Company’s IPO were converted to common shares. 

Outlook
The security surveillance market is large and growing rapidly. The worldwide video 
surveillance equipment market is expected to increase from US$16 billion in 2011 to over 
US$29 billion in 2015 due in large part to customer adoption of new high-definition video 
surveillance solutions (Source: ABI Research: The Video Surveillance Market, July 2010). 
Within that, the IP (or digital) camera portion of the market is estimated to grow at over 
49% compound annual growth rate (“CAGR”) from 2008 to 2015, while the closed circuit 
television (analog) camera portion is expected to decrease by 13% over the same period.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
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Video sureillance camera revenue by type World Market, forecast: 2008 to 2015
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Revenue (US$ millions) CAGR

Type 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 (08-15)

CCTV 
(analog) 6,360 6,241 6,152 5,648 4,425 3,565 2,793 2,415 –13%

IP (digital) 731 888 1,199 2,149 3,912 6,533 9,384 11,711 49%

Total 7,091 7,129 7,351 7,797 8,337 10,098 12,177 14,126 10%

Source: ABI Report

The security video surveillance market today is very fragmented, with no one producer 
commanding a dominant share of the market. Management believes that Avigilon’s 
complete end-to-end, high-definition IP surveillance system, which includes proprietary 
High-Definition Stream Management™ (“HDSM™”) technology, provides a superior 
solution over other surveillance options. This position provides the Company significant 
opportunities as the market grows and shifts from analog and analog/digital-hybrid systems 
to fully digital high-definition IP surveillance systems.

Avigilon’s strategy is to use the funds raised in the recent IPO to pursue organic 
growth opportunities. Specifically, the Company will invest in expanding its sales team 
globally, enhancing marketing and brand awareness, and increasing research and 
development activities. 

In addition to expanding sales regionally, Avigilon’s growth strategy includes adding dedicated 
sales resources to service high growth vertical market segments. This began with the casino 
vertical market in the fourth quarter of 2011 and will continue with other major vertical markets in 
2012, such as government installments, transportation, airports, and banking and financial centres. 
These markets offer large enterprise-scale sales, which typically have longer sales cycles. 

Management believes that these activities will contribute to further revenue growth. 
However, as the necessary investments are incurred in advance of the revenue generation, 
there may be pressure on profitability in the short term. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Year ended December 31
(unaudited)

($ 000’s) 2011 2010

Current Assets 38,629 16,177

Current Liabilities 7,824 6,404

Working Capital 30,805 9,773

The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure it will have sufficient 
liquidity to settle liabilities when due. To date Avigilon has funded its operations and 
capital requirements through a combination of cash from operations, new share issues 
and bank debt. 

On November 8, 2011 the Company completed its IPO, pursuant to which Avigilon issued 
4,444,446 common shares at a price of $4.50 per share for total gross proceeds to Avigilon 
of $20.0 million. In addition, 1,110,000 common shares were sold by certain shareholders of 
Avigilon at a price of $4.50 per share for total gross proceeds to the selling shareholders of 
$5.0 million. On December 8, 2011 the underwriters exercised their over-allotment option 
and purchased an additional 180,000 shares from Avigilon at a price of $4.50 per share for 
additional proceeds to the Company of $0.8 million. 

Analog

Digital
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As at December 31, 2011 Avigilon had working capital of $30.8 million, compared to 
$9.8 million as at December 31, 2010. The Company also currently has an $8.0 million 
revolving demand credit facility from a Canadian Chartered Bank, which is secured by a 
general security agreement providing a first charge over all assets of Avigilon and bears 
interest at the bank’s prime plus 1.65% per annum. As at December 31, 2011, nothing was 
drawn on the credit facility and the full $8.0 million was available to the Company.

The Company’s working capital needs will continue to grow with the sales growth. 
Management believes that ongoing operations and associated cash flow, in addition to 
its cash resources and revolving credit facility, will provide sufficient liquidity to continue 
financing its planned growth in the near term and that the Company will have access to 
additional debt and equity capital as it grows to support further expansion.

Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth the Company’s contractual obligations as of December 31, 2011: 

($ 000’s) 2012 2013 2014 2015 Thereafter Total

Facility Lease 
Obligations 1,303 1,614 1,616 1,473 2,554 8,560

Capital Expenditures

The Company incurred capital expenditures of $1.3 million during the year ended 
December 31, 2011, compared to $1.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2010. The 
main expenditures for 2011 included leasehold improvements for the Company’s new 
head office, additional demo gear provided to the sales team for new hires, and additional 
computer hardware and software for new staff.

The decrease in capital expenditures compared to 2010 was due to the purchase of robotic 
manufacturing machinery in 2010 for $0.7 million. The machinery was acquired in order to 
transition from outsourcing key component production to internal production, providing 
reduced cost, better quality control, and shorter lead times.

Although management plans to continue to invest in capital equipment as necessary to 
support sales growth, as at December 31, 2011 the Company has no formal commitments 
for additional capital expenditures.

Capital Structure

As of the date of this management discussion and analysis, the Company has outstanding 
31,041,287 common shares and no preferred shares. On November 8, 2011, in accordance 
with the shareholder agreement and the Company’s IPO, all preferred shares were 
converted to common shares. At that time all cumulative dividends were paid in cash to 
preferred shareholders.

  Capital stock

   Preferred shares  Common shares 

Balance, December 31, 2010  9,148,639  17,248,202 

Conversion of preferred shares (9,148,639) 9,148,639 

Issuance of common stock  4,624,446 

Balance, December 31, 2011 –  31,021,287 

Issuance of common stock    20,000 

Balance, February 29, 2012  –  31,041,287 

The Company maintains a stock option plan that enables it to grant options to its directors, 
officers, employees and other service providers. The plan allows for a maximum grant 
of 18% of issued and outstanding shares in aggregate. Each option agreement with the 
grantee sets forth, among other things, the number of options granted, the exercise price 
and the vesting conditions of the options. The options vest between 0 and 60 months from 
the date of grant and have a maximum term of five years. 

Prior to its IPO, the Company had a fixed stock option plan which had similar terms but 
capped the total stock options available for issue at 5,500,000 common shares. All stock 
options issued under the old plan were converted to the new plan upon closing of the IPO.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
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The changes in stock options during the year ended December 31, 2011 and year ended 
December 31, 2010 were as follows:

  December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010 

Number of 
 options 

 Average 
 exercise 

 price 
Number of 

 options 

 Average 
 exercise 

 price 

     $    $ 

Outstanding, beginning of period  5,183,100  1.03  5,221,700  1.00 

Options granted  413,500  3.28  296,400  1.49 

Options exercised  –    –  

Options forfeited  (216,000)  1.08  (335,000)  1.00 

Outstanding, end of period  5,380,600  1.20  5,183,100  1.03 

Exercisable, end of period 4,954,600  1.07  4,851,200  1.00 

The outstanding options expire over the next five years, as follows:

(000’s) 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Stock Option Expiration  414  4,152  116  291  408 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2011, the Company had no off-balance sheet arrangements, other than 
operating leases (which have been disclosed under Contractual Obligations), that have, or 
are reasonably likely to have, a current or future material effect on its consolidated financial 
position, financial performance, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

Transactions with Related Parties

The Company incurred sales in the normal course of business of $191 thousand for the year 
ended December 31, 2011 in connection with companies owned by key management and 
directors as compared with $189 thousand for year ended December 31, 2010. 

The balance receivable from related parties was $39 thousand as at December 31, 2011 
as compared to $58 thousand as at December 31, 2010.

Financial Instruments and Other Instruments
Avigilon recognizes financial assets and liabilities when it becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. On initial recognition, financial assets and liabilities 
are measured at fair value plus transaction costs directly attributable to the financial asset 
and liabilities, except for financial asset or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 
whereby the transaction costs are expensed as incurred.

Financial assets are classified into one of the following categories: 

• fair value through profit or loss;

• held-to-maturity;

• available for sale; and

• loans and receivables. 

Credit Risk 

Avigilon’s principal financial assets are cash, demand deposits and accounts receivable, 
which are subject to credit risk. The carrying amounts of financial assets on the 
consolidated statement of financial position represent Avigilon’s maximum credit exposure 
at the statement date.

The credit risk on cash and demand deposits is limited because the counterparties are 
chartered banks with high credit-ratings assigned by national credit-rating agencies. 

Avigilon is exposed to credit risk with respect to uncertainties as to the timing and amount 
of collectability of accounts receivable. The amounts disclosed in the consolidated 
statement of financial position are net of an allowance for doubtful accounts, estimated 
by the management of Avigilon based on previous experience and its assessment of the 
current economic environment. Avigilon mitigates credit risk through standard credit and 
reference checks.
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Foreign Exchange Risk 

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that variations in exchange rates between the Canadian 
dollar, the United States dollar (“USD”), the British pound sterling (“GBP”), the Euro (“EUR”) 
and the United Arab Emirates Dirham (“AED”) will affect the Company’s operating and 
financial results. Avigilon has earned a significant portion of its revenue in these currencies 
and enters into foreign exchange contracts on a limited basis to hedge against gains or 
losses from foreign exchange fluctuations. However, as the Company buys a large amount 
of materials in USD, a natural hedge exists for a portion of this risk.

Interest Rate Risk

Avigilon is subject to interest rate risk on its cash balances and outstanding amounts 
under its credit facility. As at December 31, 2011 the Company has cash balances of 
$12.4 million and its credit facility is unutilized. Avigilon’s current practice is to invest 
excess cash in investment grade securities and deposits, in accordance with our 
approved investment policy.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Avigilon has adopted IFRS effective January 1, 2010 and the consolidated financial 
statements for the year ending December 31, 2011 have been prepared in accordance 
with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and its 
interpretations, and are covered by IFRS 1, First-Time Adoption of IFRS. The application 
of IFRS requires that Avigilon make estimates that affect its reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities and the disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Avigilon bases 
its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that Avigilon 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The Company evaluates its estimates 
and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Avigilon’s actual results may differ significantly from 
these estimates.

The significant accounting policies and estimates are discussed below:

Revenue

• Warranty Reserve – A provision for future potential product warranty costs is included 
in cost of goods sold based primarily on prior warranty experience regarding cost of 
claims and expected product returns. These future product warranty costs include costs 
associated with repair or replacement of products returned under warranty. Actual future 
costs in support of these claims may differ from those estimates. The Company reviews 
the provision quarterly and adjusts it prospectively. The total provision as at December  
31, 2011 was $62 thousand which has increased from the December 31, 2010 provision  
of $14 thousand as a result of an increase in sales. 

• Valuation of inventory – The Company evaluates inventory balances at each Statement 
of Financial Position date and records a provision as necessary for excess or obsolete 
inventory (“E&O Reserve”). In performing this review the Company considers such 
factors as forecasted sales, demand requirements, product lifecycle and product 
development plans, quality issues, and current inventory levels. If future demand or 
market conditions for Avigilon’s products are less favourable than forecasted or if 
unforeseen technological changes occur, Avigilon may be required to record write-
downs which would negatively affect gross margins in the period when the write-downs 
are recorded and Avigilon’s operating results and financial position could be adversely 
affected. At December 31, 2011 Avigilon’s E&O Reserve was $51 thousand, compared to 
$116 thousand at December 31, 2010.

• Allowance for doubtful accounts – Avigilon records an allowance for doubtful accounts 
related to trade accounts receivable. This allowance is based on Avigilon’s knowledge of 
the financial condition of its customers, the aging of the receivables, the current business 
environment and historical experience. A change in one or more of these factors could 
impact the estimated allowance and provision for bad debts recorded. At December 31, 
2011, Avigilon’s allowance for doubtful accounts was $130 thousand, which has increased 
from the December 31, 2010 allowance of $77 thousand as a result of an increase in sales. 
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• Valuation of deferred income tax and investment tax credit assets – As at December 
31, 2011, the Company has recorded a deferred income tax asset of $1.7 million, which 
reflects deferred tax deductions available against taxable income. The Company has also 
recorded refundable investment tax credits of $1.0 million from research and development 
activities, which are refundable in cash. The calculation of Avigilon’s deferred income 
tax and investment tax credit assets involves dealing with uncertainties in application of 
complex tax laws and regulations as well as assessing the probability of future realization. 
It is also possible that tax audits may result in potential reductions of assets and that such 
adjustments may materially affect the amounts reported for deferred income tax and 
investment tax credit assets.

Adoption of New Accounting Standards
Effective January 1, 2011, Canadian publicly listed entities were required to prepare 
their financial statements in accordance with IFRS. Due to the requirements to present 
comparative financial information, the effective transition date is January 1, 2010. 
IFRS uses a conceptual framework similar to Canadian GAAP, but there are significant 
differences in recognition, measurement, and disclosures. 

Transitional Financial Impact
The Company has provided an explanation of the impacts of its transition to IFRS in Note 
20 to its audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011. 
This includes reconciliations of Avigilon’s statement of shareholders’ equity from Canadian 
GAAP to IFRS as at December 31, 2010 and net income and comprehensive income for 
the twelve months ended December 31, 2010. Explanations of the individual impacts of 
adopting IFRS identified in the reconciliations are included in Note 16 of the June 30, 2011 
Interim financial statements, as are Avigilon’s elections under IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption  
of International Financial Reporting Standards.” 

Control Activities

For all changes to policies and procedures that have been identified, the effectiveness  
of internal controls over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures has 
been assessed and any changes have been implemented. In addition, controls over the 
IFRS changeover process have been implemented, as necessary. The Company has 
identified and implemented the required accounting process changes that resulted from  
the application of IFRS accounting policies and these changes were not significant.  
The Company has completed the design and implementation of the internal controls over 
accounting process changes resulting from the application of IFRS accounting policies  
and have concluded that there were no significant process changes required. The  
Company applied its existing control framework to the IFRS changeover process.

Post-Implementation

The post-implementation phase will involve continuous monitoring of changes in IFRS in 
future periods. It should be noted that the standard-setting bodies that determine IFRS 
have significant ongoing projects that could impact the IFRS accounting policies that the 
Company has selected. In particular, Avigilon expects that there may be additional new or 
revised standards (IAS and IFRS) or interpretations from the IAS and International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) in relation to consolidation, joint ventures, 
financial instruments, hedge accounting, discontinued operations, leases, and revenue 
recognition. The Company has processes in place to ensure that potential changes are 
monitored and evaluated. The impact of any new standards and interpretations will be 
evaluated prior to their effective date.
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Future Changes in Accounting Policies

Financial Instruments – Disclosures

The International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) has issued an amendment 
to IFRS 7, “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” (the “IFRS 7 amendment”), requiring 
increased disclosure requirements regarding transfers of financial assets. The IAS 7 
amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2011. Avigilon will 
apply the amendment at the beginning of the 2012 financial year and does not expect the 
implementation to have a significant impact on disclosures.

Deferred Taxes – Recovery of Underlying Assets

The IASB has issued amendments to IAS 12, “Income Taxes” (the “IAS 12 amendment”), that 
provide an exception to the general principles in IAS 12 that the measurement of deferred 
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities should reflect the tax consequences that would follow 
from the manner in which the entity expects to recover the carrying amount of an asset. 
Specifically, under the amendments, investment properties that are measured using the fair 
value model in accordance with IAS 40 Investment Property are presumed to be recovered 
through sale for the purposes of measuring deferred taxes, unless the presumption 
is rebutted in certain circumstances. This amendment is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2012, and as such the Company will apply the amendment 
for financial statements ending after January 1, 2012. The impact of this amendment has yet 
to be assessed.

Financial Instruments

The IASB has issued a new standard, IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”), which 
will ultimately replace IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 
(“IAS 39”). The replacement of IAS 39 is a multi-phase project with the objective of 
improving and simplifying the reporting for financial instruments and the issuance of 
IFRS 9 is part of the first phase of this project. This standard is currently set to become 
effective on January 1, 2013. In August 2011, the IASB issued an exposure draft titled 
Mandatory Effective Date of IFRS 9. The exposure draft proposes to change the effective 
date of IFRS 9 from January 1, 2013 to January 1, 2015. Avigilon is currently evaluating the 
impact of IFRS 9 on its consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Financial Statements 

IFRS 10, “Consolidated Financial Statements” (“IFRS 10”), establishes principles for the 
presentation and preparation of consolidated financial statements when an entity controls 
one or more other entities. IFRS 10 supersedes IAS27 “Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements” (“IAS 27”) and SIC-12 “Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities” and 
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Earlier application is 
permitted if IFRS 11, IFRS 12, IAS 27 (as revised in 2011) and IAS 28 (as revised in 2011) are 
early applied at the same time. Avigilon is currently evaluating the impact of this standard 
on its consolidated financial statements.

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

IFRS 12, “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities” (“IFRS 12”), is a disclosure standard and is 
applicable to entities that have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates or 
unconsolidated structured entities. IFRS 12 establishes disclosure objectives and specifies 
minimum disclosures that entities must provide to meet those objectives. The objective of 
IFRS 12 is that entities should disclose information that helps users of financial statements 
evaluate the nature of and risks associated with its interests in other entities and the effects 
of those interests on their financial statements. The disclosure requirements set out in 
IFRS 12 are more extensive than those in the current standards. 

Fair Value Measurements

IFRS 13, “Fair Value Measurements” (“IFRS 13”), defines fair value, sets out a single IFRS 
framework for measuring fair value and requires disclosures about fair value measurements. 
The IFRS 13 applies to IFRSs that require or permit fair value measurements or disclosures 
about fair value measurements (and measurements, such as fair value less costs to 
sell, based on fair value or disclosures about those measurements), except in specified 
circumstances. IFRS 13 is to be applied for annual periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2013. Earlier application is permitted. Avigilon is currently evaluating the impact of this 
standard on its consolidated financial statements.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
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Separate financial statements

IAS 27 was re-issued by the IASB on May 12, 2011 in order to conform to changes as a result 
of the issuance of IFRS 10, IFRS 11, and IFRS 12, “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities.” 
IAS 27 will now only prescribe the accounting and disclosure requirements for investments 
in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates when an entity prepares separate financial 
statements as the consolidation guidance will now be included in IFRS 10. IAS 27 is to 
be applied for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Earlier application is 
permitted if IFRS10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 (as revised in 2011) are early applied at the 
same time.

Amendments to IAS 1 on presentation of items of other comprehensive income

The amendments retain the option to present profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
either in one continuous statement or in two separate but consecutive statements. Items of 
other comprehensive income are required to be grouped into those that will and will not be 
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Tax on items of other comprehensive income is 
required to be allocated on the same basis. The measurement and recognition of items of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not affected by the amendments.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Avigilon Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Avigilon 
Corporation, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at 
December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010, and consolidated statements 
of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in equity and consolidated 
statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, and a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for  
the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements 
based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on 
the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 

the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of Avigilon Corporation as at December 31, 2011, December 31, 
2010 and January 1, 2010 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years 
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Chartered Accountants 
Vancouver, British Columbia  
February 29, 2012

Deloitte & Touche LLP, 2800 - 1055 Dunsmuir Street, 4 Bentall Centre, P.O. Box 49279, Vancouver BC V7X 1P4, Canada  Tel: 604-669-4466  Fax: 604-685-0395  www.deloitte.ca
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Consolidated 
Statements of 
Comprehensive 
Income
for the year ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars  
except number of shares and per share data)

    Year ended 

 
 

 
 Note 

 December 31, 
 2011 

 December 31, 
 2010 

     $  $ 

       (Note 20) 

       

Sales    60,033  32,284 

Cost of sales    (32,394) (17,713)

     27,639  14,571 

Operating expenses      

 Selling and marketing    12,777  6,758 

 Research and development    3,066  2,424 

 General and administrative    5,892  2,919 

 Amortization    169  233 

     21,904  12,334 

       

Operating income    5,735  2,237 

       

Other income (expense)      

 Accretion expense    (470)  (549)

 Interest and other, net    (93)  34 

 Foreign exchange gain    311  (157)

     (252)  (672)

       

Income before income taxes    5,483  1,565 

Deferred income tax expense 10(b)  (1,654)  (601)

Net income and total comprehensive income    3,829  964 

       

Earnings per share  14(e)    

 Basic    0.20  0.06 

 Diluted    0.14  0.05 

       

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (000’s)  14(e)    

 Basic    19,234  17,144 

 Diluted    30,770  27,937 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated 
Statements of 
Financial Position
as at December 31, 2011, 2010 and January 1, 2010

(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars  
except number of shares and per share data)

 
 

 
Note 

 December 31, 
 2011 

 December 31, 
 2010 

 January 1, 
 2010 

    $  $  $ 

Assets      (Note 20)  (Note 20) 

Current assets        

 Cash    12,418  2,330  2,241 

 Trade and other receivables 16(a)  13,291  7,653  4,628 

 Inventories  6  11,254  5,307  2,653 

 Other financial assets  8  88  –  – 

 Prepaid expenses and deposits    605  308  276 

 Research tax credits 10(a)  973  579  988 

     38,629  16,177  10,786 

Non-current assets        

 Property and equipment  7  2,304  1,495  328 

 Intangible assets    46  27  2 

 Deposits  9  272  26  30 

 Deferred tax assets 10   1,703  1,999  2,462 

     42,954  19,724  13,608 

Liabilities        

Current liabilities        

 Trade and other payables    7,765  4,644  2,576 

 Bank loan  12  –  1,760  – 

 Short-term leasehold incentive  13  59  –  – 

     7,824  6,404  2,576 

Non-current liabilities        

 Long-term leasehold incentive  13  279  –  – 

 Preferred shares  11  –  10,336  9,788 

     8,103  16,740  12,364 

Shareholders’ equity        

Capital stock  14  37,251  9,559  8,976 

Equity compensation reserve    4,099  3,753  3,560 

Deficit    (6,499)  (10,328)  (11,292)

     34,851  2,984  1,244 

     42,954  19,724  13,608 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. Approved by the Board and authorized for issue on February 29, 2012.
 
“ALEXANDER FERNANDES” (signed)    “BRUCE MARGINSON” (signed)

Alexander Fernandes, Director     Bruce Marginson, Director



Consolidated 
Statements of 
Changes in Equity
for the year ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars  
except number of shares and per share data)

 
 
 

 Common stock  Equity
compensation 

 reserve 

 
 

 Deficit 

 Total 
shareholders’ 

 equity  Shares  Amount 

     $  $  $  $ 

           

Balance, January 1, 2010  16,998,202  8,976  3,560  (11,292)  1,244 

Net income and total 
comprehensive income  –  –  –  964  964 

Share issue costs  –  (65)  –  –  (65)

Share-based payments  –  –  193  –  193 

Issuance of common stock  250,000  500  –  –  500 

Deferred income tax effect on 
share issuance cost

 
 – 

 
 148 

 
– 

 
 – 

 
 148 

Balance, December 31, 2010 17,248,202 9,559  3,753  (10,328)  2,984 

Net income and total 
comprehensive income  –  –  –  3,829  3,829 

Share issue costs  –  (3,022)  –  (3,022)

Share-based payments  –  –  346  –  346 

Conversion of preferred shares  9,148,639  9,149  –  –  9,149 

Issuance of common stock  4,624,446  20,810  –  –  20,810 

Deferred income tax effect on 
share issuance cost

 
 – 

 
 755 

 
– 

 
 – 

 
 755

Balance, December 31, 2011  31,021,287  37,251  4,099  (6,499)  34,851 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated 
Statements of 
Cash Flows
for the year ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars  
except number of shares and per share data)

   Year ended 

 
 

 
Note 

 December 31, 
 2011 

 December 31, 
 2010 

     $  $ 
       (Note 20) 
Cash flows from operating activities      
 Net income for the year    3,829  964 
 Adjustments for non-cash items      

 Amortization    428  344 
 Write off of property and equipment    102  – 
 Share-based payments    346  193 
 Accretion expense    470  549 
 Deferred income tax expense 10(b)  1,186  749 
 Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss    (156)  25 
 Interest expense (income)    93  (34)

     6,298  2,790 
 Movements in working capital      

 (Increase) in trade and other receivables    (5,279)  (3,095)
 (Increase) in inventories  6  (5,947)  (2,654)
 (Increase) in prepaid expenses and deposits    (298)  (32)
 (Increase) decrease in research tax credits    (394)  409 
 Increase in trade and other payables    2,658  2,083 

 Net movements in working capital    (9,260)  (3,289)
 Interest (paid) received    (93)  34 
 Income taxes paid    (134)  (138)
Net cash used in operating activities    (3,189)  (603)
Cash flows from investing activities      
 Purchase of property and equipment    (1,306)  (1,489)
 Disposal of property and equipment    –  – 
 Purchase of intangible assets    (52)  (47)
 (Increase) decrease in deposits  9  (246)  4 
Net cash used in investing activities    (1,604)  (1,532)
Cash flows from financing activities      
 (Repayment of) proceeds from bank loan  12  (1,760)  1,760 
 Issuance of common stock  14  20,810  500 
 Share issuance costs    (2,551)  (65)
 Dividends paid on redeemable preferred shares    (1,658)  – 
Net cash provided by financing activities    14,841  2,195 
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash    39  29 
Increase in cash    10,088  89 
Cash, beginning of year    2,330  2,241 
Cash, end of year    12,418  2,330 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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1. Nature of operations
Avigilon Corporation (the “Company”) is incorporated under the Canadian Business 
Corporations Act and its principal business is developing, manufacturing, marketing and 
selling high-definition surveillance systems.

Avigilon is a company incorporated in Canada with limited liability under the legislation of 
the Province of British Columbia. The Company’s head office is located at Suite 400 – 858 
Beatty Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6B 1C1. The Company’s registered and 
records office is located at Suite 2900, 550 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, 
Canada V6C 0A3.

2. Basis of presentation and statement of compliance
The Company has adopted International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) at January 
1, 2011 with a transition date of January 1, 2010. These consolidated financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with IFRS.

The Company’s consolidated financial statements were previously prepared in accordance 
with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”). Canadian 
GAAP differs in some areas from IFRS. In preparing these consolidated financial statements, 
management has amended certain accounting and presentation methods previously 
applied in the Canadian GAAP financial statements to comply with IFRS. The comparative 
figures for 2010 have been restated to reflect these adjustments. Note 20 contains 
reconciliations and descriptions of the effect of the transition from Canadian GAAP to IFRS.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, 
under the historical cost convention, except for financial assets and financial liabilities which 
are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

3. Summary of significant accounting policies
The Company’s significant accounting policies are outlined below:

(a) Basis of consolidation

The Company consolidates subsidiaries controlled by the Company. Control exists 
when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and 
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The financial 
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from 
the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its 
wholly owned subsidiaries, Avigilon UK Inc. incorporated in the United Kingdom, Avigilon 
ME DMCC incorporated in the United Arab Emirates and Omnikon Technologies Ltd. 
incorporated in British Columbia, Canada. Intercompany balances and transactions, 
revenues and expenses are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

(b) Foreign currencies

The functional and presentation currency of the Company and its subsidiaries is the 
Canadian dollar.

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are recorded at the rates 
of exchange at the date of the transaction. At each financial position reporting date, 
monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated 
at the rates prevailing at the reporting date. Non-monetary items that are measured 
in terms of historical cost are translated using historical rates. All gains and losses on 
translation of those foreign currency transactions are recorded in profit or loss.

(c) Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2011

(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars except number of shares and per share data)
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(c) Measurement uncertainty (continued)

Significant accounts that require estimates as the basis for determining the carrying 
amounts include the net realizable value of inventories and the allocation of cost to 
inventories, the estimated useful lives of assets, the estimated warranty provision, 
the recoverability of tangible and intangible assets, the value of research tax credits 
receivable, the value of deferred income tax assets and liabilities, the value of stock 
options granted, the estimated fair value of shares and any future contingencies and 
commitments.

Estimates are based on historical experience, current conditions, and various other 
assumptions believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. They are subject to 
review on a periodic basis and adjusted as necessary. As the estimation process is 
inherently uncertain, actual future outcomes could differ from current estimates and 
assumptions, potentially having material effects on future financial statements.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is 
revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and further 
periods if the review affects both current and future periods.

Judgments made by management in the application of IFRS that have a significant 
effect on the financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material 
adjustment in the current and following fiscal years are described below:

• Warranty reserve – the provision for warranty costs;

• Inventory valuation – the provision for obsolescence of inventory and net 
realizable value;

• Receivable valuation – the recoverability of account receivables;

• Useful lives – the useful lives of equipment and leasehold improvements and 
intangible assets and the related depreciation;

• Income taxes valuation – the provision for the income tax recovery and the 
composition of deferred tax assets;

• Share-based payments – the inputs used in accounting for share-based payment 
expense; and

• Contingencies – any future contingencies and commitments.

(d) Revenue recognition

The Company’s revenues consist of sales of hardware, software, and the provision of 
installation, training, and technical telephone support services. These elements are 
set forth separately in the contractual arrangements such that the total price of the 
customer arrangement is expected to vary as a result of the inclusion or exclusion of 
elements (excluding technical telephone support).

The Company recognizes revenue when it has transferred significant risks and 
rewards of ownership, legal title has passed, it retains neither continuing managerial 
involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control over 
the goods sold, the amount of revenue can be measured reliably, it is probable that the 
economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Company, and the 
costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Revenue is recognized when the Company has demonstrated delivery and compliance 
with the product specifications or has had a history of customer acceptance that 
provides no uncertainty of acceptance upon delivery of the product that would defer 
revenue recognition.

Arrangements may be comprised of multiple product and service elements. Revenue 
included in a multiple element arrangement is unbundled from the total fee for the 
arrangement based on their relative fair value as determined by reliable objective 
evidence. Where reliable objective evidence does not exist, reference to third party 
prices or estimates of standalone price for the element are used to determine a fair 
value. In situations where reliable objective evidence or other evidence of fair value 
does not exist for the delivered elements but does exist for the undelivered elements, 
the Company may apply the residual method. The residual method allocates the 
consideration to the undelivered elements based on their fair value and the remaining 
consideration to the delivered elements.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars except number of shares and per share data)
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The Company’s multiple-element sales arrangements include arrangements where 
hardware with embedded software licenses (“surveillance system”) and technical 
telephone support are sold together. The hardware and software function together to 
deliver the tangible product’s essential functionality. Revenue allocable to technical 
telephone support is recognized together with the surveillance system on delivery as 
the following criteria are met:

• The fee is included with the overall system fee;

• The telephone support has historically been for one year or less;

• The cost of providing the support is insignificant; and

• Unspecified upgrades or enhancements offered during the period historically have 
been and are expected to continue to be minimal and infrequent.

Revenue is recognized on installation, training, and consulting services when these 
services have been performed. Selling price on these items is determined by reference 
to third party evidence of comparable services. Installation, training and consulting 
services are separate units of accounting because (1) the delivered item has standalone 
value to customers as it is sold separately by the Company and (2) there is no general 
right of return and the delivery or performance of the undelivered item is probable and 
substantially in the control of the Company.

(e) Share-based payments

The Company has an equity-settled share-based payment plan, which is described in 
Note 14(c). The fair value of the awards granted is recognized as an operating expense 
with a corresponding increase in equity compensation reserve. The fair value is 
measured at grant date and each tranche is recognized on a straight line basis over the 
period during which the awards vest.

The fair value of the stock options granted is measured using the Black-Scholes option 
pricing model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options 
were granted.

At the end of each reporting period, the Company re-assesses its estimate of the 
number of awards that are expected to vest and recognizes the impact of the revisions 
in the statement of comprehensive income.

(f) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective 
interest rate method, and are expensed when they are incurred unless they are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset.

Borrowings are obtained for general business activities and associated borrowing costs 
are not significant.

(g) Research and development

The Company is engaged in research and development activities. Research costs are 
expensed as incurred.

Development costs are expensed, unless all of the following can be demonstrated:

• The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available 
for use or sale;

• The intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

• The ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

• How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

• The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the 
development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

• The ability to measure reliably the expenditures attributable to the intangible asset 
during its development.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(h) Research tax credits

The Company is entitled to certain Canadian federal and provincial tax incentives 
for qualified scientific research and experimental development. These investment 
tax credits are recorded as a reduction in the related expenditures when there is 
reasonable assurance that such credits will be realized.

(i) Income taxes

Income tax on the profit or loss for the periods presented comprises current and 
deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates 
to items recognized directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in equity.

Current income taxes are the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the 
year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at period end, adjusted for 
amendments to tax payable with regards to previous years.

Deferred income taxes are recognized using the liability method, providing for 
temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount 
of deferred tax recognized is based on the expected manner of realization or settlement 
of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of 
the reporting period.

A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the asset can be utilized. To the extent that the 
Company does not consider it probable that a deferred tax asset will be recovered, it 
provides a valuation allowance against that excess.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to 
set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income 
taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Company intends to settle its 
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

(j) Earnings per share

The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its common 
shares, calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to common shareholders of 
the Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during 
the period. Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the profit or loss 
attributable to common shareholders and the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential common shares, which comprise 
share options granted to employees and directors of the Company and preferred shares.

(k) Property and equipment

Property and equipment are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. The cost of an item of equipment and leasehold 
improvements consists of the purchase price, any costs directly attributable to bringing the 
asset to the location and condition necessary for its intended use, and an initial estimate of 
the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located.

Depreciation is recognized at rates calculated to write off the cost of equipment and 
leasehold improvements, less their estimated residual value, using the straight-line 
method, over the estimated useful life, as outlined below:

Asset Method Basis

Manufacturing equipment Straight-line 8 years

Leasehold improvements Straight-line Term of lease

Furniture and equipment Straight-line 8 years

Demo equipment Straight-line 3 years

Computer equipment Straight-line 3 years

Tooling Straight-line 3 years

The Company reviews the useful life, depreciation method, residual value and carrying 
value of its property and equipment at each reporting date. Where the carrying value 
is estimated to exceed the estimated recoverable amount, a provision for impairment is 
measured and recorded based on the higher of fair value less costs to sell or the asset’s 
value in use.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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An item of equipment and leasehold improvements is derecognized upon disposal or 
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the 
asset. Any gain or loss arising on disposal of the asset, determined as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, is recognized 
in profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income or loss.

Where an item of equipment and leasehold improvements comprises major 
components with different useful lives, the components are accounted for as separate 
items of property and equipment. Expenditures incurred to replace a component of 
an item of equipment and leasehold improvements that are accounted for separately, 
including major inspection and overhaul expenditures, are capitalized and amortized 
over their estimated useful life.

(l) Intangible assets

Intangible assets are recorded at cost and amortized using the straight-line method 
over the following estimated useful life:

Computer software 2 years

(m) Impairment

The Company’s tangible and intangible assets are reviewed for an indication of 
impairment at each statement of financial position date. If indication of impairment 
exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of an asset, or its cash-
generating unit, exceeds its recoverable amount. For an asset that does not generate 
largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. A cash-generating unit is the smallest 
identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent 
of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. Impairment losses are 
recognized in profit or loss for the period. Impairment losses recognized in respect of 
cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to cash-generating units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other 
assets in the cash-generating unit on a pro-rata basis.

The recoverable amount is the greater of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

An impairment loss is reversed if there is an indication that there has been a change 
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, 
if no impairment loss had been recognized.

(n) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined 
on a first-in-first-out basis and includes all costs of purchase, costs of conversion (direct 
costs and an allocation of fixed and variable production overheads) and other costs 
incurred in bringing the inventory to their present location and condition. Net realizable 
value is the estimated selling price less estimated costs to complete the sale.

(o) Financial instruments

The Company recognizes financial assets and liabilities when it becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument. On initial recognition, financial assets 
and liabilities are measured at fair value plus transaction costs directly attributable to 
the financial assets and liabilities, except for financial assets or liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss, whereby the transaction costs are expensed as incurred.

(i) Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into one of the following categories:

• fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”);

• available for sale (“AFS”);

• derivative instruments; and

• loans and receivables.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(o) Financial instruments (continued)

(i) Financial assets (continued)

Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (“FVTPL”)

Financial assets and financial liabilities which are classified as FVTPL are measured 
at fair value with changes in those fair values recognized as finance income/
expense. Other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost and are 
amortized using the effective interest method. At the end of each reporting period, 
the Company determines if there is objective evidence that an impairment loss 
on financial assets measured at amortized costs has been incurred. If objective 
evidence that impairment loss for such assets has been incurred, the amount of 
the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s 
original effective interest rate. The amount of the loss is recognized in profit or loss.

Available-For-Sale (“AFS”)

AFS financial assets, designated based on the criteria that management does not 
hold these for the purposes of trading, are presented as investments and measured 
at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive 
income (“OCI”). Realized gains and losses are recorded in earnings when investments 
mature or are sold and are calculated using the carrying amount of securities sold. AFS 
financial assets are reviewed quarterly for possible significant or prolonged decline in 
fair value requiring impairment and more frequently when economic or market concerns 
warrant such evaluation. The review includes an analysis of the fact and circumstances 
of the financial assets, the market price of actively traded securities and other financial 
assets, the severity of loss, the financial position and near-term prospects of the 
investment, credit risk of the counterparties, the length of time the fair value has 
been below costs, both positive and negative evidence that the carrying amount is 
recoverable within a reasonable period of time, management’s intent and ability to hold 
the financial assets for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery of 

fair value and management’s market view and outlook. When a decline in the fair value 
of an available-for-sale investment has been recognized in OCI and there is objective 
evidence that the asset is impaired after management’s review, any cumulative loss that 
had been recognized in OCI are reclassified as an impairment loss in the consolidated 
statement of operations. The reclassification adjustment is calculated as the difference 
between the acquisition cost and current fair value, less any impairment loss on that 
financial asset previously recognized, if applicable. Impairment losses recognized on 
in the consolidated statement of operations for an investment in an equity instrument 
classified as available-for-sale are not subject to reversal.

Derivative instruments

Derivative instruments are recorded at fair value, including those derivatives that 
are embedded in financial or non-financial contracts that are not closely related 
to the host contracts. Changes in the fair values of derivative instruments are 
recognized in finance income/expense.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market.

Cash

Cash comprise cash on hand and deposits in banks and is measured at fair value 
and are classified as FVTPL.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables, and research tax credits do not incur any interest, are 
short term in nature and are measured at amortized cost net of appropriate allowance 
for estimated non-recoverable amounts. Such allowances are recognized based on 
an assessment of ageing of debtors’ accounts, past experience, or known customer 
circumstances. Accounts receivable are classified as loans and receivables.

Deposits

Deposits are recognized at amortized cost and are classified as loans and receivables.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars except number of shares and per share data)

40



(ii) Impairment of financial assets

All financial assets not classified as fair value through profit or loss is assessed at 
each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it 
is impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired when there is objective 
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment 
have been affected.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is 
calculated as the difference between its carrying amount and the present value of 
the estimated cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. 
Losses are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.

When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the 
decrease in impairment loss is reversed through the statement of comprehensive 
income.

Impairment losses relating to AFS investments are recognized when the decline 
in fair value is considered significant or prolonged. These impairment losses are 
recognized by transferring the cumulative loss that has been recognized in other 
comprehensive income to net income. The loss recognized in the statement of 
comprehensive income is the difference between the acquisition cost and the 
current fair value.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss 
directly for all financial assets with the exception of trade receivables, where the 
carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a 
trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance 
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited 
against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance 
account are recognized in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from 
the asset have expired, the right to receive cash flows has been retained but an 
obligation to on-pay them in full without material delay has been assumed or the 
right to receive cash flows has been transferred together with substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership.

(iii) Financial liabilities and equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity 
in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. An equity 
instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an 
entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company 
are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Other financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss or other financial liabilities. Other financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense 
recognized on an effective yield basis.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a 
financial liability and of allocating interest expenses over the corresponding period. 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments over the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, 
a shorter period.

The Company has classified its trade and other payables and bank loan as other 
financial liabilities.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(o) Financial instruments (continued)

(iii) Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are derecognized only when the associated obligation has been 
discharged, cancelled or has expired. The difference between the carrying amount 
of the financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable is 
recognized in profit or loss.

Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the 
statement of financial position when, and only when, the Company has a legal right 
to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(iv) Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at the date the derivative contracts are 
entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each 
reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss immediately.

Embedded Derivatives

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are treated as separate 
derivatives when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of 
the host contract and the host contracts are not measured at fair value through 
profit and loss.

(p) Leases

Rentals payable under operating leases are expensed on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the relevant lease. Incentives received upon entry into an operating lease are 
recognized straight-line over the lease term.

(q) Provisions 

Provisions are recorded when a present legal or constructive obligation exists as 
a result of past events where it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 
of the amount of the obligation can be made.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required 
to settle the present obligation at the statement of financial position date, taking into 
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When some or all of 
the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 
from a third party, the receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that 
reimbursement will be received and the amount receivable can be measured reliably.

(r) Segment information

The Company operates in one segment which is reported in a manner consistent 
with the internal reporting provided to the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”). The CEO 
is considered the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM”) and has the authority for 
resource allocation and is responsible for assessing the Company’s performance.

4. Critical accounting judgements and key sources 
of estimation uncertainty
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and 
in any future periods affected.

Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements is 
included in the notes to the financial statements where applicable.
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5. Accounting standards issued but not yet effective
The following new standards have been issued but are not effective during the period 
ended December 31, 2011. These standards and interpretations are effective from January 1, 
2013 and early adoption is permitted.

(a)  Financial Instruments – Disclosures

Financial Instruments – Disclosures: The International Accounting Standards Board 
(the “IASB”) has issued an amendment to IFRS 7, “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” 
(the “IFRS 7 amendment”), requiring increased disclosure requirements regarding 
transfers of financial assets. The IAS 7 amendment is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after July 1, 2011. The Company will apply the amendment at the 
beginning of the 2012 financial year and does not expect the implementation to have 
a significant impact on disclosures.

(b) Deferred Taxes – Recovery of Underlying Assets

Deferred Taxes – Recovery of Underlying Assets: The IASB has issued amendments 
to IAS 12, “Income Taxes” (the “IAS 12 amendment”), that provide an exception to the 
general principles in IAS 12 that the measurement of deferred tax assets and deferred 
tax liabilities should reflect the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in 
which the entity expects to recover the carrying amount of an asset. Specifically, under 
the amendments, investment properties that are measured using the fair value model 
in accordance with IAS 40 Investment Property are presumed to be recovered through 
sale for the purposes of measuring deferred taxes, unless the presumption is rebutted 
in certain circumstances. This amendment is effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2012, and as such the Company will apply the amendment for 
financial statements ending after January 1, 2012. The Company is currently evaluating 
the impact of the IAS 12 amendment on its consolidated financial statements.

(c) Financial Instruments – IFRS 9

Financial Instruments: The IASB has issued a new standard, IFRS 9, Financial 
Instruments (“IFRS 9”), which will ultimately replace IAS 39, Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”). The replacement of IAS 39 is a multi-phase 
project with the objective of improving and simplifying the reporting for financial 
instruments and the issuance of IFRS 9 is part of the first phase of this project. This 
standard is currently set to become effective on January 1, 2013. In December 2011, 
the IASB approved the deferral of the mandatory effective date of IFRS 9 from January 
1, 2013 to January 1, 2015. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of IFRS 9 on 
its consolidated financial statements.

(d) Consolidated Financial Statements – IFRS 10

IFRS 10 establishes principles for the presentation and preparation of consolidated 
financial statements when an entity controls one or more other entities. IFRS 10 
supersedes IAS27 “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” and SIC-
12 “Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities” and is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Earlier application is permitted if IFRS 11, IFRS 
12, IAS 27 (as revised in 2011) and IAS 28 (as revised in 2011) are early applied at the 
same time. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this standard on its 
consolidated financial statements.

(e) Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities – IFRS 12

IFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and is applicable to entities that have interests in 
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates or unconsolidated structured entities. IFRS 
12 establishes disclosure objectives and specifies minimum disclosures that entities 
must provide to meet those objectives. The objective of IFRS 12 is that entities should 
disclose information that helps users of financial statements evaluate the nature of and 
risks associated with its interests in other entities and the effects of those interests 
on their financial statements. The disclosure requirements set out in IFRS 12 are more 
extensive than those in the current standards.
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5. Accounting standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

(f) Fair Value Measurements – IFRS 13

IFRS 13 defines fair value, establishes a single IFRS framework for measuring fair 
value and requires disclosures about fair value measurements. IFRS 13 applies to 
IFRSs that require or permit fair value measurements or disclosures about fair value 
measurements (and measurements, such as fair value less costs to sell, based on fair 
value or disclosures about those measurements), except in specified circumstances. 
IFRS 13 is to be applied for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  
Earlier application is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact  
of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.

(g) Separate Financial Statements – IAS 27

IAS 27 was re-issued by the IASB on May 12, 2011 in order to conform to changes as 
a result of the issuance of IFRS 10, IFRS 11, and IFRS 12. IAS 27 will now only prescribe 
the accounting and disclosure requirements for investments in subsidiaries, joint 
ventures and associates when an entity prepares separate financial statements as 
the consolidation guidance will now be included in IFRS 10. IAS 27 is to be applied for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Earlier application is permitted 
if IFRS10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 (as revised in 2011) are early applied at the same 
time.

(h) Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income

The amendments retain the option to present profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income either in one continuous statement or in two separate but consecutive 
statements. Items of other comprehensive income are required to be grouped into 
those that will and will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Tax on items 
of other comprehensive income is required to be allocated on the same basis. The 
measurement and recognition of items of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income are not affected by the amendments.

6. Inventories

($ 000’s)
December 31,

 2011
 December 31,

 2010
 January 1,

 2010 

Raw materials, work in progress  9,087  4,651  2,069 

Finished goods  2,167  656  584 

11,254 5,307 2,653

During the year ended December 31, 2011, there were no reversals of previously recorded 
inventory write downs. As at December 31, 2011, the Company anticipates that all 
inventories will be realized within a year.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, $28,532 of inventory was expensed through 
cost of sales (2010 – $16,010).

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company incurred expenses of $30 relating 
to its provision for obsolete inventory (2010 – $81).

7. Property and equipment
The carrying amount of property and equipment is as follows:

($ 000’s)
 December 31,

 2011 
 December 31,

 2010 
 January 1,

 2010 

Carrying amount of:    

Manufacturing equipment  813  655  – 

Leasehold improvements  762  225  8 

Furniture and equipment  373  286  259 

Demo Equipment  153  157  – 

Computer equipment  110  108  61 

Tooling  93  64  – 

  2,304  1,495  328 

During the year ended December 31, 2011 $213 of amortization was allocated to cost of 
goods sold (2010 – $111).
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7. Property and equipment (continued)

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company acquired assets of $1,307 
(2010 – $1,489), and recorded amortization of $449 (2010 – $322) and disposals of 
$Nil (2010 – $Nil). A net impairment loss of $49 was recognized on demo equipment 
in the year; no impairment loss was recognized or reversed in 2010.

The Company’s property and equipment gross carrying amounts and accumulated 
depreciation are as follows:

($ 000’s)
Manuf. 

Equipment

Leasehold
improve-

ments

Furniture
and

equipment
Demo 

equipment
Computer 

equipment Tooling Total

At cost        

Balance a 
 January 1, 2010  –  82  459  –  477  –  1,018 

Additions  734  251  84  235  95  90  1,489 

Disposals  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Balance at 
December 31, 2010  734  333  543  235  572  90  2,507 

Additions  258  613  158  144  64  70  1,307 

Disposals  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Write downs  –  –  –  (102)  –  –  (102)

Balance at 
December 31, 2011  992  946  701  277  636  160  3,712 

($ 000’s)
Manuf. 

Equipment

Leasehold
improve-

ments

Furniture
and

equipment
Demo 

equipment
Computer 

equipment Tooling Total

Accumulated 
depreciation        

Balance at 
January 1, 2010  –  (74)  (200)  –  (416)  –  (690)

Eliminated on 
disposal of assets  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Depreciation 
expense  (79)  (34)  (57)  (78)  (48)  (26)  (322)

Balance at 
December 31, 2010  (79)  (108)  (257)  (78)  (464)  (26)  (1,012)

Disposals or 
write downs  –  –  –  53  –  –  53 

Depreciation 
expense  (100)  (76)  (71)  (99)  (62)  (41)  (449)

Balance at 
December 31, 2011  (179)  (184)  (328)  (124)  (526)  (67)  (1,408)

8. Other financial assets
The Company enters into forward foreign exchange contracts to minimize exposure to 
foreign currencies. These derivative contracts are categorized as financial assets carried 
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), are classified as held for trading, and have not 
been designated in hedge accounting relationships. During the year ending December 
31, 2011, the Company entered into a forward foreign exchange contract with a balance 
remaining of $1,000, at an exchange rate of 1.41 with a settlement date of March 30, 2012. 
At December 31, 2011 the fair value of this contract was $88 (December 31, 2010 – $Nil).

9. Deposits
During 2011, the Company entered into a lease agreement for its head office location which 
required security deposits totaling $220. The Company has other minor deposits totaling 
$52 on account (December 31, 2010 – $26).
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10. Research tax credits receivable and income taxes (continued)

(a) Research tax credits

The Company’s claims for scientific research and development expenditures as 
at December 31, 2011 have resulted in research tax credits refundable totaling 
$973 (December 31, 2010 – $579). Should any part of these claims be adjusted by 
Canada Revenue Agency, the research tax credit receivable and statement of total 
comprehensive income will be adjusted accordingly.

(b) Income tax reconciliation

A reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates with the reported taxes is as follows:

 
December 31,

2011
December 31,

2010

 $  $ 
Current tax expense 

Current tax expense in respect of the current year  86  51 

Adjustments for prior periods  80  – 

Penalties and interest  40  – 

Part VI.I tax  396  – 

  602  51 

Deferred tax expense (recovery)

Deferred tax expense recognized in the current year  1,191  550 

Adjustments for prior periods  (139)  – 

  1,052  550 

Total income tax expense  1,654  601 

 
December 31,

2011
December 31,

2010

Income before taxes  5,483  2,148 

Combined federal mandatory provincial income tax rate 26.5% 28.5%

Tax recovery at statutory rate  1,453  612 

Permanent differences  98  30 

Dividend accretion  124  – 

Stock compensation  92  40 

Interest and penalties  40  – 

Foreign losses tax effected at lower rates  (3)  (11)

Revaluation of future income tax liability to reflect future 
statutory rates  (92)  (84)

Change in prior year estimates  (58)  14 

Total income tax expense (recovery)  1,654  601 

December 31, 2011
Opening
balance

Recognized
in profit
or loss

Recognized
in equity

Closing
Balance

Deductible temporary differences  (7)  75  68 

Non-capital losses available for 
future periods  857  (713)  144 

Scientific research and experimental  974  (155)  819 

Share issuance costs  103  (222)  756  637 

Investment tax credits  115  115 

Property, plant and equipment (43)  (37)  (80)

Deferred income tax assets  1,999  (1,052)  756  1,703 
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10. Research tax credits receivable and income taxes (continued)

December 31, 2010
Opening
balance

Recognized
in profit
or loss

Recognized
in equity

Closing
Balance

Deductible temporary differences  –  (7)  (7)

Non-capital losses available for 
future periods  1,458  (601)  857 

Scientific research and experimental  853  121  974 

Share issuance costs  53  (37)  87  103 

Investment tax credits  112 3  115 

Property, plant and equipment  (14)  (29)  (43)

Deferred income tax assets  2,462  (550)  87  1,999 

Non-capital losses 575 3,428 

SR&ED expenditures 3,645 4,447 

11. Other financial liabilities
Preferred shares

On June 17, 2008, the Board of Directors authorized an amendment to the Articles of 
Incorporation that authorized an unlimited number of Class A preferred shares, without par 
value. The preferred shares are convertible at the option of the holder into common shares 
at the rate of one common share for one preferred share at any time. Each preferred share 
shall automatically convert into common shares without any further action by the Company 
immediately upon the earlier of either: (i) the closing of a qualified initial public offering, 
which has a pre-initial public offering market value of at least $50,000 and which results 
in aggregate gross proceeds of at least $15,000; (ii) the closing of an acquisition of 100% 
of the Company shares at a price of at least $5.00 per common share; or (iii) by majority 
consent (two-thirds) of the preferred shareholders.

The preferred shareholders are entitled to cumulative dividends from the date of 
issuance at the rate of 6% of the original purchase price. The accumulated dividends 
are payable in either cash or common shares at the discretion of the Company. As of 
December 31, 2011, the cumulative dividends totaled $Nil (December 31, 2010 – $1,188 
and January 1, 2010 – $639).

At December 31, 2010 there were 9,148,639 preferred shares issued and outstanding; there 
were no preferred shares issued during 2011. On November 8, 2011 in accordance with the 
shareholder agreement and the Company’s initial public offering all preferred shares were 
converted to common shares. At that time all cumulative dividends were paid in cash to 
preferred shareholders.

An embedded derivative was identified in connection with the holder’s option to convert 
the preferred shares to common shares. The value of the embedded derivative was zero.
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12. Borrowings
The Company has an $8,000 revolving demand credit facility that is secured by a general 
security agreement providing a first charge over all assets of the Company. At December 31, 
2011, an amount of $Nil was drawn against the credit facility (December 31, 2010 – $1,760 
and January 1, 2010 – $NIL).

The facility bears interest at the bank’s prime plus 1.65% per annum for Cdn$ funds and 
US Base Rate plus 1.65% per annum for US$ funds. Under the terms of the credit facility, 
the Company must satisfy certain restrictive covenants as to minimum financial ratios. As 
at December 31, 2011, the Company is in compliance with all covenants, obligations and 
conditions of its credit agreement.

13. Leases
The Company has obligations under operating leases for its office premises. Minimum 
annual lease payments, including operating costs, pursuant to the lease agreements, 
are approximated as follows:

($ 000’s)  

2012  1,303 

2013  1,614 

2014  1,616 

2015  1,473 

2016  1,460 

2017  1,094 

  8,560 

The Company has expensed $591 related to leases for the year ended December 31, 2011 
(2010 – $341).

The Company was provided inducements in the form of leasehold improvements of $342 
on signing the lease for its new head office. The full amount of the leaseholds was added to 
Property and equipment and the inducement was set up as a liability and will be amortized 
over the life of the lease. For 2011, $5 was amortized into income (2010 – $Nil).

14. Issued capital
(a) Authorized share capital

• Unlimited number of preferred shares convertible at the option of the holder, voting, 
non-participating shares without nominal or par value

• Unlimited number of common shares with no par value

(b) Issued share capital

At December 31, 2011 issued share capital comprised 31,021,287 common shares 
(December 31, 2010: 17,248,202, January 1, 2010: 16,998,202).

The Company has completed its previously announced initial public offering and 
secondary offering (the “Offering”) of its common shares. Avigilon’s common shares began 
trading on November 8, 2011 on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol AVO.

Pursuant to the offering, Avigilon issued 4,444,446 common shares at a price of $4.50 
per share for total gross proceeds to Avigilon of $20,000. In addition, 1,110,000 common 
shares were sold by certain shareholders of Avigilon at a price of $4.50 per share for 
total gross proceeds to the selling shareholders of $4,995.

In accordance with the Company’s shareholder agreement and the Offering all 
preferred shares were also converted to common shares on November 8, 2011. The 
Company had 9,148,639 preferred shares issued and outstanding at the time of the 
Offering and these were all converted on a one-to-one basis to common shares. See 
note 11 for further discussion. 

Avigilon and the selling shareholders also granted the Underwriters an over-allotment 
option, exercisable in whole or in part at any time for a period of 30 days following the 
closing of the Offering, to purchase, in aggregate, up to an additional 833,167 common 
shares exercisable at $4.50 per common share. The option was exercised in part and, 
pursuant to the agreement, Avigilon issued an additional 180,000 common shares at a 
price of $4.50 per share for total gross proceeds to Avigilon of $810, bringing Avigilon’s 
aggregate gross proceeds for the Offering to $20,810.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars except number of shares and per share data)

48



(c) Stock options

The Company maintains a stock option plan that enables it to grant options to its 
directors, officers, employees and other service providers. The plan allows for a 
maximum grant of 18% of issued and outstanding shares in aggregate. Each option 
agreement with the grantee sets forth, among other things, the number of options 
granted, the exercise price and the vesting conditions of the options. The options vest 
between 0 and 60 months from the date of grant and have a maximum term of five years.

Prior to the Offering the Company had a fixed stock option plan which had similar terms 
but capped the total stock options available for issue at 5,500,000 common shares. All 
stock options issued prior to the Offering were converted to the new plan.

The changes in stock options during the year ended December 31, 2011 and year ended 
December 31, 2010 were as follows:

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010

 
 Number of

 options 

 Average
 exercise

 price 
 Number of

 options 

 Average
 exercise

 price 

   $   $ 

Outstanding, beginning of period  5,183,100  1.03  5,221,700  1.00 

Options granted  413,500  3.28  296,400  1.49 

Options exercised  –   –  

Options forfeited  (216,000)  1.08  (335,000)  1.00 

Outstanding, end of period  5,380,600  1.20  5,183,100  1.03 

Exercisable, end of period  4,954,600  1.07  4,851,200  1.00 

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company granted 413,500 (2010 – 
296,400) stock options to directors, officers and employees at a weighted average 
price of $3.28 (2010 – $1.49).

(d) Share-based payments

The weighted average grant date fair value of an option granted during the year ended 
December 31, 2011 is $1.61 (2010 – $0.65) per share. The option valuations were 
determined using the following assumptions:

Year ended

 
 December 31,

 2011 
 December 31,

 2010 

Average risk-free interest rate 2.39% 2.71%

Expected life  5 years  5 years 

Annualized volatility  55% 55%

Dividend yield  0%  0% 

(e) Earnings per share
Year ended

($ 000’s)
 December 31,

 2011 
 December 31,

 2010 

Net income  4,299  1,513 

Dividends on preferred shares  (470)  (549)

Net income  3,829  964 
   

Basic weighted-average shares outstanding  19,234  17,144 

Effect of dilutive securities:   

 Preferred shares  7,624  9,149 

 Stock options  3,912  1,644 

Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding  30,770  27,937 
   

Net income per common share   

 Basic 0.20 0.06

 Diluted 0.14 0.05

For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, no stock options were determined 
to be anti-dilutive because the exercise prices of these options were lower than the 
estimated average market price of the common shares during the period.
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15. Related party transactions
(a) Trading transactions

The Company’s related parties consist of companies owned by executive officers and 
directors. The Company incurred sales of $191 for the year ended December 31, 2011 
(2010 – $189) in the normal course of operations in connection with companies owned 
by key management and directors. The Company had a receivable balance of $39 at 
December 31, 2011 (December 31, 2010 – $58 and January 1, 2010 – $20).

(b) Compensation of key management personnel

Remuneration for key management personnel during the year was as follows:

Year ended

($ 000’s)
 December 31,

 2011 
 December 31,

 2010 

Short term benefits  1,741  1,390 

Share based payments  244  76 

Total  1,985  1,466 

Key management personnel are comprised of the Company’s executive officers and 
directors. The remuneration of key management personnel is determined by the 
Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee having regard to the performance 
of individuals and market trends.

Year ended

($ 000’s)
 December 31,

 2011 
 December 31,

 2010 

Wages and salaries  1,969  1,441

Benefits  16  25

Total  1,985  1,466

Less expensed in:   

 Sales and marketing  524 627 

 Research and development  414  252

 General and administrative  1047  587

Employee compensation included in cost of sales – –

16. Financial instruments
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, deposits, trade and other receivables, 
bank loan and trade and other payables. The fair values of these financial instruments 
approximate their carrying values because of the short-term nature of these instruments.

The fair values of cash are measured based on Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

(a) Credit risk

The Company’s principal financial assets are cash, and trade and other receivables, 
which are subject to credit risk. The carrying amounts of financial assets on the 
consolidated statement of financial position represent the Company’s maximum credit 
exposure at the statement of financial position date.

The credit risk on cash and demand deposits is limited because the counterparties are 
chartered banks with high credit-ratings assigned by national credit-rating agencies.

The Company is exposed to credit risk with respect to uncertainties as to the timing 
and amount of collectability of trade and other receivables. The amounts disclosed 
in the consolidated statement of financial position are net of an allowance for 
doubtful accounts, estimated by the management of the Company based on previous 
experience and its assessment of the current economic environment. The Company 
mitigates credit risk through standard credit and reference checks.
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As at December 31, 2011, the aging of trade receivables were:

($ 000’s)
 December 31,

 2011 
 December 31,

 2010 
 January 1,

 2010 

Trade    

 Current  9,885  5,891  3,445 

 Aged between 61 – 119 days  2,023  878  824 

 Aged greater than 120 days  226  547  175 

Total trade  12,134  7,316  4,444 

Related company  39  58  20 

Other  1,248  356  187 

  13,421  7,730  4,651 

Allowance for doubtful accounts  (130)  (77)  (23)

Trade and other receivables  13,291  7,653  4,628 

Reconciliation of allowance for doubtful accounts:

($ 000’s)
 December 31,

 2011 
 December 31,

 2010 
 January 1,

 2010 

Balance, beginning of year  77  23 - 

Increase during the year 85  61  23 

Bad debts recovery during the year  –  15  – 

Bad debts written off during the year  (32)  (22)  – 

Balance, end of year  130  77  23 

(b) Liquidity risk

The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient 
liquidity to meet liabilities when due. As at December 31, 2011, the Company had current 
assets of $38,629 to settle current liabilities of $7,824 and had additional capacity 
available on its credit facility. All of the Company’s financial liabilities have contractual 
maturities of 30 days or are due on demand and are subject to normal trade terms.

(c) Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such 
as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and commodity and equity prices.

(i) Foreign currency risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that variations in exchange rates between the 
Canadian dollar, the United States dollar (“U.S.”) the Great Britain Pound (“GBP”) the 
Euro (“EUR”) and the United Arab Emirates Dirham (“AED”) will affect the Company’s 
operating and financial results. The Company has earned a significant portion of its 
revenue in these currencies while a significant portion of expenses and inputs are 
in Canadian dollars; it does enter into foreign exchange contracts on a limited basis 
to hedge against gains or losses from foreign exchange fluctuations.

(ii) Price risk

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices used in 
manufacturing. Commodity price risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on 
earnings and economic value due to commodity price movements and volatilities. 
The Company does not enter into contracts to hedge against gains or losses from 
changes in commodity prices. It is in management’s opinion that the Company is not 
exposed to significant price risk.

(d) Sensitivity analysis

(i) Interest rate sensitivity

The fair values of cash, trade and other receivables, bank loan, accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities approximate their carrying amounts due to their short term 
nature. The Company has limited exposure to changing interest rates.
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16. Financial instruments (continued)

(d) Sensitivity analysis (continued)

(ii) Foreign exchange sensitivity

The following table details the Company’s sensitivity to a 10% decrease in the value 
of the Canadian dollar against the relative foreign currencies. This analysis is based 
on foreign currency exchange rate variances that the Company considered to be 
reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period. It includes only outstanding 
foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at 
the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. A positive value below 
indicates an increase in profit. A strengthening of the Canadian dollar by the same 
amount would have a comparable negative affect on profit. The impact on equity 
is the same as the impact on profit before tax.

($ 000’s)
 December 31,

 2011 
 December 31,

 2010 

US Dollar  1,385  980 

Great Britain Pound  231  128

Euro  289  120 

Emirati Dirham  3  –

17. Interest and other
Interest and other includes the following:

($ 000’s)
December 31,

 2011 
 December 31,

 2010 

Interest paid on bank credit facility (163) (20)

Interest earned on short term investments 18 24

Finance charge revenue  52 30 

Total  (93)  34 

18. Capital management
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern in order to pursue the development of its high-definition 
surveillance systems and to maintain a flexible capital structure which optimizes the cost 
of capital at an acceptable risk level.

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes 
in economic condition and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or 
adjust the capital structure, the Company may attempt to issue new shares, issue new debt, 
acquire or dispose of assets, or adjust the amount of cash and cash equivalents on hand.

There were no changes to the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.

19. Segment information
The Company operates in one segment in which it develops, manufactures, markets, 
and sells high-definition surveillance systems;

The following is a breakdown of revenue by geographic areas based on the customers’ 
locations:

  Year ended 

($ 000’s)
 December 31,

 2011 
 December 31,

 2010 

Canada  4,525  3,173 

United States  30,850  16,205 

United Kingdom  5,198  2,326 

EMEA  14,120  7,574 

Asia Pacific  3,088  2,261 

Latin America  2,252  745 

Total revenues  60,033  32,284 

The gross profit is consistent across the geographic segments. All other costs and 
expenses are incurred in Canada and all assets are held in Canada.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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20. Transition to IFRS
The Canadian Accounting Standards Board has mandated the adoption of IFRS effective 
for interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after 
January 1, 2011 for Canadian publicly accountable profit-oriented enterprises. The Company 
has elected to adopt this requirement but is not mandated to do so. The date of transition 
is January 1, 2010 and as a result the 2010 comparative information has been adjusted to 
confirm with IFRS.

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards sets forth 
guidance for the initial adoption of IFRS. Certain optional exemptions and mandatory 
exceptions were utilized in preparing the opening IFRS Statement of financial position. 
The Company applied the following optional exemption:

Borrowing Costs

In accordance with IFRS 1, an entity can adopt to not apply IFRS capitalization criteria to 
borrowing costs incurred prior to the transition date. The Company will prospectively apply 
the standard under IFRS.

Share-based payments

In accordance with IFRS, an entity can adopt to apply IFRS 2 to options which vested prior 
to transition date. The Company will prospectively apply the standard under IFRS.

Mandatory exceptions applied:

Estimates

In accordance with IFRS 1, an entity’s estimates under IFRS at the date of transition to IFRS 
must be consistent with estimates made for the same date under Canadian GAAP, unless 
there is objective evidence that those estimates were in error. The Company’s IFRS estimates 
as of January 1, 2010 are consistent with its Canadian GAAP estimates for the same date.

Reconciliations between IFRS and Canadian GAAP

Although IFRS employs a conceptual framework that is similar to Canadian GAAP, 
significant differences exist in certain matters of recognition, measurement and disclosure. 
While the adoption of IFRS has not changed the Company’s actual cash flows, it has 
resulted in changes to the Company’s reported financial position and financial performance. 
In order to allow the users of the financial statements to better understand these changes, 
the following reconciliations have been provided.

• The Company’s statement of financial position as at January 1, 2010;

• The Company’s statements of comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2010;

• The Company’s statement of financial position as at December 31, 2010.

Reconciliations for the statement of cash flows have not been provided as there was no net 
change in cash flows. All of the changes in net income were offset through “Share-based 
payments”, a non-cash line item.

Notes explaining each adjustment are provided after the reconciliations.
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20. Transition to IFRS (continued)

The January 1, 2010 Canadian GAAP statement 
of financial position has been reconciled to IFRS 
as follows:

 January 1, 2010

($ 000’s)  Note 
Canadian

 GAAP 

 Effect of
 transition

 to IFRS  IFRS 
     

Assets     

Current assets     

 Cash   2,241  –  2,241 

 Trade and other receivables   4,628  –  4,628 

 Inventories   2,653  –  2,653 

 Prepaid expenses and deposits   276  –  276 

 Research tax credits   988  –  988 

 Deferred tax assets (a)  601  (601)  – 

   11,387  (601)  10,786 

Non-current assets     

 Property and equipment   328  –  328 

 Intangible assets   2  –  2 

 Deposits   30  –  30 

 Deferred tax assets (a)  1,861  601  2,462 

   13,608  –  13,608 

Liabilities     

Current liabilities     

 Trade and other payables   2,576  –  2,576 

 Bank loan   –  –  – 

   2,576  –  2,576 

Non-current liabilities     

 Preferred shares (c)  –  9,788  9,788 

   2,576  9,788  12,364 
     

Shareholders’ equity     

Capital stock   8,976  –  8,976 

Preferred shares (c)  8,900  (8,900)  – 

Equity compensation reserve (b)  3,476  84  3,560 

Deficit (b),(c)  (10,320)  (972)  (11,292)

   11,032  (9,788)  1,244 

   13,608  –  13,608 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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20. Transition to IFRS (continued)

The Canadian GAAP statement of comprehensive 
income for the year ended December 31, 2010 
have been reconciled to IFRS as follows:

 Year ended December 31, 2010

($ 000’s) Note 
 Canadian

 GAAP 

 Effect of
 transition

 to IFRS  IFRS 
     

Sales   32,284  –  32,284 

Cost of sales   17,713  –  17,713 

   14,571   14,571 

Operating expenses     

 Selling   6,738  –  6,738 

 Research and development   2,349  –  2,349 

 Administrative   2,821  –  2,821 

 Amortization   233  –  233 

 Stock-based payments (b)  159  34  193 

Total operating expenses   12,300  34  12,334 

     

Operating income   2,271  (34)  2,237 
     

Other income (expense)     

 Dividend expense (c)  –  (549)  (549)

 Interest and other   34  –  34 

 Foreign exchange gain (loss)   (157)  –  (157)

Income before income taxes   2,148  (583)  1,565 
     

Income tax expense   (601)  –  (601)

Net income and total comprehensive income   1,547 (583)  964
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20. Transition to IFRS (continued)

The Canadian GAAP statement of financial position 
at December 31, 2010 has been reconciled to IFRS 
as follows:

  December 31, 2010 

($ 000’s)  Note 
 Canadian

 GAAP 

 Effect of
 transition

 to IFRS  IFRS 
     

Assets     

Current assets     

 Cash   2,330  –  2,330 

 Trade and other receivables   7,653  –  7,653 

 Inventories   5,307  –  5,307 

 Prepaid expenses and deposits   308  –  308 

 Research tax credits   579  –  579 

 Deferred tax assets (a)  1,125  (1,125)  – 

   17,302  (1,125)  16,177 

Non-current assets     

 Property and equipment   1,495  –  1,495 

 Intangible assets   27  –  27 

 Deposits   26  –  26 

 Deferred tax assets (a)  874  1,125  1,999 

   19,724  –  19,724 

Liabilities     

Current liabilities     

 Trade and other payables   4,644  –  4,644 

 Bank loan   1,760  –  1,760 

   6,404  –  6,404 

Non-current liabilities   –  –  – 

 Preferred shares (c)  –  10,336  10,336 

   6,404  10,336  16,740 

Shareholders’ equity     

Capital stock (c)  9,475  84  9,559 

Preferred shares (c)  8,983  (8,983)  – 

Equity compensation reserve (b)  3,635  118  3,753 

Deficit (b),(c)  (8,773)  (1,555)  (10,328)

   13,320  (10,336)  2,984 

   19,724  –  19,724 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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20. Transition to IFRS
Notes to the reconciliations

(a) Deferred tax assets – Under Canadian GAAP, the Company separately presented 
current and non-current deferred tax assets. IFRS requires the Company to present all 
deferred tax assets as long term.

(b) Share-based payments – Under Canadian GAAP, the Company amortized grants 
in their entirety on a straight-line basis over the total vesting term and recognized 
forfeitures as they occurred. IFRS requires each tranche of a grant to be amortized over 
their respective vesting period and to include an estimate of forfeiture rates. As a result 
of these changes, compensation expense has been accelerated under IFRS.

(c) Preferred shares – Under Canadian GAAP, the Company accounted for the preferred 
shares as equity. IFRS requires that the preferred shares be accounted for as liabilities 
as they are considered hybrid financial instruments that contain embedded derivatives 
in the form of conversion options (see note 11(d)). The value of the preferred share 
liability is measured using the effective interest method which is the amount that could 
be demanded from the holders in the events of a change of control. The accumulated 
dividend expense is accrued in the year it would be due to the shareholders.
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